
 

 

BOROUGH OF LAKEHURST LAND USE BOARD 

REGULAR MEETING 

AUGUST 28, 2023 

MINUTES 

 

MEETING OPENED AT 6:00 P.M. BY CHAIRMAN DAVID BURTON. 

 

ALL STOOD FOR THE PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE. 

 

PUBLIC MEETINGS STATEMENT READ INTO RECORD BY BOARD 

SECRETARY CAPASSO: 

 

"IN COMPLIANCE WITH N.J.S.A. 10:4, OPEN PUBLIC MEETINGS ACT, NOTICE 

WAS GIVEN TO THE NEWSPAPER, AND POSTED, THAT THE REGULAR 

MEETING OF THE LAKEHURST LAND USE BOARD IS SCHEDULED FOR THE 

TWENTY-EIGHTH DAY OF AUGUST 2023 AT THE HOUR OF 6:00 P.M. TO BE 

HELD IN THE LAKEHURST COMMUNITY CENTER, 207 CENTER STREET, AT 

WHICH TIME THE BUSINESS OF THE BOARD WILL BE CONDUCTED." 

 

 

ROLL CALL:      *Alternate Member 

 

MAYOR ROBBINS: PRESENT   ANDREW HODGES: PRESENT 

COUNCILMAN OGLESBY: PRESENT  ERIC ROBBINS: ABSENT 

CHAIRMAN BURTON : PRESENT   ROBERT ROBINSON : ABSENT  

KORI BRENNAN : PRESENT   MARANDA SALAS : PRESENT  

JEFF EMMONS: PRESENT    *#1 HAILEY DRIES: PRESENT 

   

         

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 

Motion by:   Maranda Salas   Seconded by:  Steven Oglesby 

To approve minutes of July 24, 2023 Regular meeting.  Roll call vote held. All votes 

affirmative with the exception of Jeff Emmons who abstained due to his absence at the 

July 24th meeting. 

 

 

OLD BUSINESS: 

 

MEMORIALIZATION OF RESOLUTION APPROVING APPLICATION OF B & K 

EQUIPMENT SERVICES LLC FOR PRELIMINARY & FINAL MAJOR SITE PLAN 

WITH CONDITIONS FOR THE PROPERTY DESIGNATED AS BLOCK 63, LOT 6: 

 

 

 

 



 

 

Motion by:   Steven Oglesby   Seconded by:  Mayor Harry Robbins 

To approve resolution memorializing application of B & K Equipment Services LLC for 

Preliminary & Final Major Site Plan approval for the property designated as Block 63, 

Lot 6.  Roll call vote held. All votes affirmative with the exception of Jeff Emmons who 

abstained due to his absence at the July 24th meeting. 

 

 

NEW BUSINESS: 

 

APPLICATION OF McDONALD’S REAL ESTATE COMPANY FOR 

PRELIMINARY & FINAL MAJOR SITE PLAN TO CONVERT THE EXISITING 

SINGLE LANE DRIVE THRU INTO A DUAL LANE DRIVE THRU FOR THE 

PROPERTY DESIGNATED AS BLOCK 67, LOT 15: 

 

Board Attorney Gregory Hock stated that McDonald’s had asked for an adjournment and 

asked that the hearing of the application be moved to the September 25th meeting at 6:00 

p.m. Mr. Hock also stated that McDonald’s did notice all property owners within two 

hundred feet; therefore, no further notice is required. 

 

 

APPLICATION OF C3 LAKEHURST LLC FOR AMENDED PRELIMINARY AND 

FINAL MAJOR SITE PLAN APPROVAL FOR C3 LAKEHURST LLC TO UTILIZE 

THE EXISTING DRIVE THRU FOR CANNABIS SALES FOR THE PROPERTY 

DESIGNATED AS BLOCK 56, LOT 18: 

 

Michael McQueeny, attorney for the applicant, stated that the applicant, formally known 

as C3 Lakehurst LLC now known as High Profile, is here tonight to amend preliminary 

and final major site plan solely for the existing drive-thru. Mr. McQueeny reminded 

everyone that the applicant received preliminary and final site plan approval to operate a 

Class 5 cannabis retail facility back in January. Mr. McQueeny stated that one of the 

items noted in the resolution memorializing the prior approval was that if the state of 

New Jersey allowed cannabis retail drive thru facilities, the applicant would come back in 

front of board to utilize the existing drive thru.  

 

Applicant’s Engineer Brian Liebeskind was sworn to give testimony at 6:07 p.m.by 

Board Attorney Gregory Hock.  

 

Mr. Liebeskind stated the previous application had the drive thru access blocked off with 

two large, raised planters, 2 feet by 4 feet, placed side-by-side at both ends of the drive 

thru and added that for the amended preliminary and final major site plan application, the 

planters will be removed. Mr. Liebeskind also stated that only one window will be 

operating, the other window will be locked. Mr. Liebeskind further stated that the drive-

thru lane will show a one-way direction with two Do Not Enter signs at the end of the 

lane. Mr. Liebeskind went over the site improvements, stating the existing asphalt in the 

drive-thru lane will be repaired. 

 



 

 

Mr. McQueeny pointed out several items of concern stated in the board’s engineer’s 

report, one being the overhanging tree branches in the drive-thru area asking for Mr. 

Liebeskind to clarify.  

 

Mr. Liebeskind stated that all trees will be pruned back. 

 

Mr. McQueeny reported that that there were concerns with the condition of the grass on 

both sides of the drive-thru lane. 

 

Mr. Liebeskind responded that the side along the basin and the basin itself will be 

restored and mulch will be added along the basin up to the fence. Mr. Liebeskind added 

the other side will be cleaned up and maintained. 

 

Board Attorney Gregory Hock questioned the grass on both sides of the drive-thru lane. 

 

Mr. Liebeskind answered the west side of the drive-thru was mulched and will continue 

to be mulched. 

 

Mr. McQueeny also pointed out the board’s engineer’s concerns regarding outstanding 

resolution conditions of approval, asking Mr. Liebeskind to clarify the location of 

proposed trees in front of the property. 

 

Mr. Liebeskind responded that because of the New Jersey Department of Transportation 

right-a-way and the sight easement, the trees will be set back further. 

 

Mr. McQueeny stated another concern is the freestanding sign application. 

 

Mr. Liebeskind answered that both the freestanding sign near Route 70 and the building 

sign are not changing, and the applicant will apply for construction permits. 

 

Mr. McQueeny further stated the concern of a note being added to the plans to indicate 

that the light pole fixtures shall be shielded to reduce light spillage outside the property.  

 

Mr. Liebeskind responded that the fixtures are still operable and added that at the 

application hearing back in January, a resident asked that lights be shielded from the 

properties and was noted that the applicant agreed to shield the lights. 

 

Mr. McQueeny questioned the replacement of the damaged fencing. 

 

Mr. Liebeskind answered the existing fence on the east side of the property is owned by 

the Cedar Post Gardening Center and added the fencing on the west and north side are in 

the process of being replaced. 

 

Board Engineer Pamela Hilla stated that all the perimeter fencing has considerable 

damage and asked Mr. Liebeskind to be clearer about what fencing is being replaced. 

 



 

 

Mr. Liebeskind responded the existing fencing in two spots are board on board, that is the 

west side and the north side and on the east side is stockade. Mr. Liebskind went on to 

say that the fencing owned by the Garden Center appears to be in good condition but as 

far as the rear and the adjacent side is a concern, they are in the process of being replaced. 

 

Mr. Hock reiterated that the north and the west property line fencing is being replaced. 

 

Mr. Liebeskind answered in the affirmative. 

 

Mr. McQueeny questioned the outside approval from the NJDOT for the sidewalks. 

 

Mr. Liebeskind responded that part of the conditional approval from the January hearing 

was to provide sidewalks along both the Manapaqua and Route 70 frontage adding that 

the application was submitted to NJDOT in May, both the construction official and 

inspector for the NJDOT were out to inspect; however, the official approval is still 

pending and is anticipated to have in the next few months. 

 

Board Chairman David Burton asked what the applicant has on the east side property 

line. 

 

Mr. Liebeskind answered there is an existing fence that belongs to the Garden Center. 

 

Mr. Burton stated that if that fence should come down, there is nothing there separating 

the properties. 

 

Mr. Hock stated that the board is looking for the applicant to put up a fence. 

 

Mr. McQueeny asked does the applicant need to install a fence when the other fence 

comes down. 

 

Mr. Burton responded a fence needs to be put up regardless of the other fence owned by 

the Garden Center. 

 

Board Member Maranda Salas asked if the overgrown basin has been cleared. 

 

Mr. Liebeskind responded in the affirmative. 

 

Ms. Hilla stated she was out to the site today and did notice the basin was cleared out; 

however, as far as maintenance is concerned, it is the property owner’s responsibility to 

maintain, clean, and operate the stormwater basin according to the DEP regulations. Ms. 

Hilla stated that the borough does have an ordinance in regard to stormwater management 

that states annual maintenance is required and that a standard plan be submitted. 

 

Ms. Hilla also stated that when the applicant receives approval for the NJDOT permit that 

a copy be forwarded to the board’s engineer.  

 



 

 

Ms. Hilla further stated that the rear parking lot appears to have some settle curb and 

ponding adding there is a concern with the northern property line. 

 

Mr. Liebeskind stated that at the January hearing it was suggested that a curb cut be 

introduced to facilitate drainage and help to alleviate ponding. 

 

Ms. Hilla agreed; however, where the new curb cut was installed, something caused it to 

be undermined and is something that needs to be addressed.    

 

Ms. Hilla reiterated that the property will be fully fenced, the west, north and eastern 

property lines, a maintenance manual for the stormwater basin will be submitted, a 

maintenance bond will be required for the improvements and maintenance, and all spider 

cracks in the parking lot will be restored and the entire parking lot will be recoated and 

striped. Ms. Hilla asked that prior to coating, the board have a punch list inspection of the 

asphalt to see if there are areas that require additional attention adding with the heavy 

equipment onsite, areas were compromised.  

 

Mr. Hock stated that a condition of approval can be given for all repairs deemed 

necessary by the board engineer.  

 

 Ms. Hilla went on to say testimony was given in regard to the permits submitted for the 

signs and the signs were conforming requiring no variances. 

 

Applicant, Ankur Rungta, was sworn to give testimony at 6:34 p.m. by Board Attorney 

Gregory Hock. 

 

Mr. McQueeny asked that Mr. Rungta refresh the recollection of the board of his role 

with the company and his background. 

 

Mr. Rungta stated that he is the CEO and cofounder of C3 Industries, a multi-state 

operator of cannabis facilities based out of Michigan. Mr. Rungta also stated that in 

January he reported that they operate 19 retail stores, they now operate 24 retail stores 

primarily in Massachusetts, Michigan, and Missouri and now expanding into New Jersey. 

Mr. Rungta further stated that they also operate 250,000 square feet of cultivation 

processing facilities and have about 800 employees. Mr. Rungta went on to say that they 

are experienced in drive-thru operations, adding that a few of their retail facilities have a 

drive-thru.  

 

Mr. McQueeny asked how the drive-thru experience differs from the walk-in. 

 

Mr. Rungta responded that the facility previously had two drive-thru windows, one is 

now closed and the second window that is secured, similar to a bank window adding it is 

bullet proof and has secured draw that is used to pass cash and products back and forth. 

Mr. Rungta stated that no products can be seen through the drive-thru window. Mr. 

Rungta also stated that the experience at the drive-thru is similar to curb side adding 

people place their order through the website ahead of time and they then choose an option 



 

 

of how they like to pick the product up meaning they can pick up in the store, curb side, 

or at the drive thru. Mr. Rungta went through each option stating in store they would 

walk in, at curb side, they pull up and access their system to alert the facility that they 

have arrived, and if they select drive thru, they will pull up and show ID. Mr. Rungta 

added that they like to give their customers differ options.  

 

Mr. McQueeny stated that some of the other retail establishments have the drive-thru 

operations asking what is the percentage of the consumers that use the drive-thru verses 

curb side verses in store. 

 

Mr. Rungta responded it varies from site to site adding five to ten percent use the drive-

thru especially those facilities that have curb side where the consumer does not have to 

wait on line for the products. 

 

Councilman Oglesby asked if the consumer placed an order online, do they get an 

appointed time to pick up. 

 

Mr. Rungta answered that when the consumer orders, the system will let them know the 

order will be ready in 30 minutes, or longer if they are busy with orders. 

 

Mr. Oglesby affirmed that all drive-thru orders would be pre-arranged, adding orders 

cannot be taken at the drive-thru window. 

 

Mr. Rungta responded it would be challenging to take orders at the drive-thru window 

and added if a consumer was to try to place an order, they would be directed to curb side, 

place an order on their phone and wait for the order. 

 

Mr. Rungta informed the board that the site is not completed and that all items mentioned 

tonight will be addressed, particularly the fence, that will be the last item. 

 

Mayor Robbins questioned the opening date. 

 

Mr. Rungta answered the site will be completed before the state is completed adding the 

state is in the investigatory process that includes background checks and fingerprints and 

then the state needs to do a site inspection. Mr. Rungta promises that once he has a better 

sense, he will definitely make the board aware. 

 

Mr. McQueeny added that they have received indications that the application is moving 

and added the next phase is called the compliance side where the state comes out and 

physically inspects the site for state compliances. Mr. McQueeny went on to say that the 

good news is that the further the construction moves along the faster we proceed to the 

compliance side. 

 

Mr. Rungta states he is hoping for mid-October. 

 

 



 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS ON THE C3 LAKEHURST LLC APPLICATION: 

 

Time opened:  6:42 p.m. 

 

NO PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

 

        Time closed:  6:42 p.m. 

 

 

 

Motion by:   Jeff Emmons   Seconded by:  Mayor Harry Robbins 

To approve application of C3 Lakehurst LLC for Amended Preliminary and Final Major 

Site Plan approval to utilize the existing drive-thru for cannabis sales.  Roll call vote held. 

All vote affirmative. 

 

 

 

PUBLIC COMMENTS: 

Time opened:  6:42 p.m. 

 

NO PUBLIC COMMENT 

 

        Time closed:  6:42 P.M. 

 

 

 

ADJOURNMENT: 

 

Motion by:  Steven Oglesby   Seconded by:  Mayor Harry Robbins 

To adjourn meeting.  Roll call vote held. All votes affirmative.  Time: 6:43 p.m. 

 

 

 

 

      _______________________________ 

      Maryanne Capasso, Secretary 

      Lakehurst Land Use Board 


